
 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners Graves, Ortiz, Routh, Smith and Chairperson Newman 
Staff:  Community Development Director Johnson 

Senior Planner Bane 
  Minute Clerk Uharriet 

 
2. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Oath of Office – Newly Appointed Commissioners 

 
B. Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 

 
C. Committee Appointments 

 
  a. General Plan Advisory Committee 
  b. Traffic and Parking Commission 

c. Commission on the Environment 
d. Arts and Cultural Commission 

  
3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

 
B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium 
so that their name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

 

C. Commission Comments 
 
D. Staff Comments 

 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. November 18, 2010 Regular Planning Commission Meeting 
 

 
AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 20, 2011 

7:00 P.M. – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION – JANUARY 20, 2011                                                                    PAGE 2 

 
5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on 
these items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public 
or the Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 
 

  
A. 1850 WHARF ROAD #10-084 APN: 035-031-39 

Emergency Coastal Permit to install a slope stabilization system in response to a landslide at a 
single-family residence in the AR/R-1 (Automatic Review/Single-Family Residence) Zoning 
District. 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:   Ted and Marilee Werfhorst, filed:  12/21/10 

 Representative:     Jeffrey Martin 
 

 
B. 723 EL SALTO DRIVE #10-082 APN: 036-143-35 

Minor land division to convert four apartment units to condominiums in the VS/R-1 (Visitor 
Serving/Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Doug Dodds, filed: 10/5/10 

 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 
 

  
A. 100-200 KENNEDY DRIVE #10-104 APN: 036-031-01 

Master Use Permit for an existing industrial property in the IP (Industrial Park) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  John McCoy, filed:  12/15/10 
     

 

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
 
8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourn to a Joint Meeting of the Planning Commission and the Traffic and Parking Commission to be 
held on Thursday, February 3, 2011 at 7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola 
Avenue, Capitola, California. 
 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION – JANUARY 20, 2011                                                                    PAGE 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council within the 
(10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, Variance, and Coastal 
Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural and Site Review can be 
appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following the date of the Commission action.  If the 
tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is extended to the next business day. 
 
All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 
considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 
accompanied by a one hundred thirty six dollar ($136.00) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit 
that is appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 
Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at 
the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City at, or prior to, the 
public hearing. 
 
Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 1

st
 

Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda Packet are 
available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us.  Agendas are also available at the 
Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.  Need more 
information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public record 
under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning Commission more than 72 
hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  
Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City 
Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, 
please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at (831) 
475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to 
refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications Cable 
TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday following the meetings on 
Community Television of Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings can 
also be viewed from the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us 
 



 
 
 
Chairperson Newman called the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners Burke, Harlan, Termini and Chairperson Newman  
Absent: Commissioner Ortiz 
Staff:  Community Development Director Johnson 

Senior Planner Bane 
  Minute Clerk Uharriet 
 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

 
Item 5.B was withdrawn by the applicant. 

 
B. Public Comments 

 
NONE 

 
C. Commission Comments 

 
Commissioner Burke announced the formation of the Monterey Bay Electric Vehicle Alliance. 
 
D. Staff Comments 

 
Community Development Director Johnson announced the city is a participant in a Toyota 
Fleet Prius "Plug-In" Demonstrator Program and will be receiving a car tomorrow morning. 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. November 4, 2010 Regular Planning Commission Meeting 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
HARLAN TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 4, 2010 MEETING. 
 
MOTION PASSED 4-0 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
 

A. 904 SIR FRANCIS AVENUE #06-061 Time Extension APN:  036-222-07 

Request for a one-year extension to a previously approved Coastal Permit and Architectural 
and Site Review for the remodel of an existing single-family residence and construction of a 
new second story in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 

DRAFT MINUTES 
SPECIAL MEETING 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2010 
7:00 P.M. – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 18, 2010  2 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\01-20-11\11-18-10 Draft Minutes.doc 

Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Justin and Lisa Maffia, filed:  11/3/10 

 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
BURKE TO APPROVE PROJECT APPLICATION #06-061 TIME EXTENSION WITH THE 
FOLLOWING FINDINGS: 
 
 A. A substantial change of circumstances has not occurred since Planning Commission 

approval of the permit on December 7, 2006. An additional one-year extension of the 
permit to December 7, 2011, would not be detrimental to the purpose of the certified 
local coastal program and zoning ordinance. 

 
MOTION PASSED 4-0 
 

B. 516 PARK AVENUE #10-094 APN: 036-101-13, 45 
Design Permit for the construction of an accessory garage appurtenant to an existing single-
family residence in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Charlie and Terre Thomas, filed:  11/2/10 

 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
BURKE TO APPROVE PROJECT APPLICATION #10-094 WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
AND FINDINGS: 
 
CONDITIONS  
 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 676 square foot detached garage at 516 
Park Avenue. 

 
2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 

3. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30AM – 9:00PM, and Saturday 9:00AM – 
4:00PM, per city ordinance. 
 

4. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development 
Director. 
 

5. Utilities shall be underground. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the 
project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family 
Residence) Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the 
objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 18, 2010  3 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\01-20-11\11-18-10 Draft Minutes.doc 

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the 
project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family 
Residence) Zoning District and is consistent with development in that neighborhood.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character 
and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California code of Regulations. 

 
 Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts construction of accessory structures that are 

less than 10,000 square feet.  This project involves construction of a detached garage in an 
urban area and is considered infill development.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during the review of the proposed project. 

 
MOTION PASSED 4-0 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

 
A. 4855 TOPAZ STREET #10-055 APN:  034-131-25 

Appeal of a tree removal permit denial to remove a Japanese Maple tree on a property located 
in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Randall Epperson, filed:  8/18/10 

 
Senior Planner Bane presented the staff report.  He noted a second arborist report was submitted by 
Nigel Belton, Arbor Art Tree Service, after the packet was distributed.  A copy is at their desk. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Randall Epperson, property owner, spoke in support of the removal permit.  He's trying to improve the 
front yard area that has been neglected for several years, and the tree is overgrown, in wrong place 
and interferes with the utility lines.  He would like to replace the tree with two red Japanese maple 
trees.  All the arborist's reports stated the tree was healthy.  Mr. Epperson is offering to double the 
number of healthy trees, improve the aesthetics of the neighborhood, and eliminate the hazard of the 
limbs in the utility lines. 
 
Alison Epperson, property owner, spoke in support of the removal permit.  She stated that the intent of 
the law is to prevent large trees from being cut down on Depot Hill.  This is a small tree, barely over 
the 6” rule.  She stated that the government should not regulate trees and the city should change the 
ordinance to address large trees, but not small trees.  She fails to see how city can tell her not to cut 
down her tree on her private property. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Commissioner Burke stated that the current ordinance is punitive to a degree, but could not support 
the removal.  The tree can be pruned and thinned.  
 
Commissioner Harlan was sympathetic with the applicant, but stated that it is the city's job to protect 
trees.  She could not make the findings for removal and therefore could not support the appeal.  The 
tree can be maintained with a careful pruning and thinning under the direction of a good arborist. 
 



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 18, 2010  4 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\01-20-11\11-18-10 Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Termini stated that without any action P.G & E. will trim the tree without any aesthetic 
consideration.  He was able to make finding 1C pertaining to utility line damage and could support the 
appeal for the tree removal. 
 
Chairperson Newman stated that the current ordinance is too restrictive and had hopes that the 
ordinance revision will be less restrictive.  He supported the new landscape plan and the tree removal.   
 
Commissioner Harlan was not supportive of the utility line argument since many trees interfere with 
the utility lines throughout the city and this decision would set a poor precedent.  
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER HARLAN AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
BURKE TO DENY THE APPEAL AND DENY TREE REMOVAL PERMIT. 
THE MOTION TIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONER HARLAN AND 
COMMISSIONER BURKE; NOES:  COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND CHAIRPERSON NEWMAN; 
ABSENT:  COMMISSIONER ORTIZ; ABSTAIN:  NONE. 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND SECONDED BY CHAIRPERSON 
NEWMAN TO UPHOLD THE APPEAL AND APPROVE THE TREE REMOVAL PERMIT WITH A 
CONDITION THAT THERE BE TWO 24" BOX RED JAPANESE MAPLE REPLACEMENT TREES 
INSTALLED IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE TREE REMOVAL. 
THE MOTION TIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES: COMMISSIONER TERMINI AND 
CHAIRPERSON NEWMAN; NOES:  COMMISSIONER HARLAN AND COMMISSIONER BURKE; 
ABSENT:  COMMISSIONER ORTIZ; ABSTAIN:  NONE. 
 
DUE TO THE TIE VOTE, THE APPEAL WAS DENIED AND THE TREE REMOVAL PERMIT WAS 
DENIED.  

  
B. 530 MCCORMICK COURT #10-091 APN:  036-101-24 

Conditional Use Permit and a Variance to parking to convert a single-family residence into a 
Bed and Breakfast use in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Marsha Taffett, filed:  10/26/10 

 
THE APPLICATION WAS WITHDRAWN BY THE APPLICANT.  NO ACTION REQUIRED. 
 
6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
 
Community Development Director Johnson reported that Glacier Ice will be turning off the refrigerator 
units at night and looking at relocating units away from the adjacent residences.  He provided a brief 
update regarding the formation of the GPAC, the award of a contract for the general plan update to 
Design, Community & Environment; Nexcycle has been approved to locate behind CVS on Bay Street 
with strict conditions and will return to the City Council for a 6-month review.  Finally, he announced 
the next meeting will be a joint meeting with the Traffic and Parking Commission for a presentation 
regarding the parking garage study and designs. 
 
7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Commissioner Harlan stated that the tree ordinance revisions should address issues where a tree is 
causing damage to personal property, i.e. tree sap has destroyed the paint on a car. 
 
Commissioner Burke stated that the tree ordinance should be about education and awareness of 
property tree selection.  
 



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 18, 2010  5 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\01-20-11\11-18-10 Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Termini announced the mural dedication for Saturday, November 20, 2010 at 2:00 
p.m.  Rain will bring the dedication into the Community Room. 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 7:40 p.m. Joint Meeting of the Planning 
Commission and the Traffic and Parking Commission to be held on Thursday, December 2, 2010 at 
7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 
 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on January 20, 2011 
 
 
________________________________ 
       Danielle Uharriet, Minute Clerk 
 
 



Item #:  5.A. 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 12, 2010 (AGENDA:  JANUARY 20, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 1850 WHARF ROAD   #10-084         APN: 035-031-39 

Emergency Coastal Permit to install a slope stabilization system in response to a 
landslide at a single-family residence in the AR/R-1 (Automatic Review/Single-
Family Residence) Zoning District. 
This project requires a Coastal Permit which is appealable to the California 
Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

  Property Owner:   Ted and Marilee Werfhorst, filed 12/21/09 
  Representative:     Jeffrey Martin 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On March 17, 2010, a landslide occurred below the creek side single-family house at 1850 
Wharf Road.  The slide compromised the hill below the home by significantly reducing the 
lateral support for the existing piers that support the three levels of deck on the creek side of the 
house.  A geotechnical report was prepared and a slope stabilization system designed in the 
months following the slide, but by the time the applicants were ready to move forward with the 
project, the rainy season was soon approaching.  Community Development Department staff 
notified the applicants that a coastal permit would be required for the proposed work, but 
realized that the approval process would take them well into the rainy season.  The site was 
inspected and it was verified that an emergency existed.  An emergency coastal permit was 
issued on October 14, 2010, and per Zoning Code Section 17.46.130(G), the community 
development director reported the issuance of the permit to the planning commission at the 
November 4, 2010 public hearing.  A building permit was issued and construction of the slope 
stabilization system proceeded soon after.  At this point in time, the majority of the tiebacks 
have been installed, with the application of shotcrete planned in the coming days. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Coastal Permit 
Capitola’s Local Coastal Plan requires the issuance of a coastal permit for: 
 

“Any repair or maintenance to facilities or structures or work located in an 
environmentally sensitive habitat area as defined by the Coastal Act, any sand area, 
within fifty feet of the edge of a coastal bluff or environmentally sensitive habitat area, or 
within twenty feet of coastal waters or streams that include: 

 



 

     (A)   The placement or removal, whether temporary or permanent, of riprap, rocks, 
sand or other beach material or any other forms of solid materials, 

 
     (B)   The presence, whether temporary or permanent, of mechanized equipment, or 
construction materials. 

 
The proposed slope stabilization system is located in an environmentally sensitive habitat area, 
as well as within twenty feet of a stream, therefore a coastal permit is required.   
 
Prior to issuance of the emergency coastal permit, the Community Development Director 
inspected the site and found that: 
 

1. An emergency exists and requires action more quickly than permitted by the procedures 
for ordinary permits due to the oncoming rainy season; 

2. The emergency action does not allow time for public comment; and  
3. The work proposed is consistent with the requirements of the certified LCP. 

 
In addition to the concern for the potential to lose the single-family house to further slides, staff 
also expressed concern with silt from a slide entering Soquel Creek and negatively impacting 
endangered fish populations.  The emergency coastal permit was issued with conditions on 
October 14, 2010 (Attachment A).  Construction of the slope stabilization system proceeded 
within a few days of issuance. 
 
While Zoning Code Section 17.46.130 allows the Community Development Director to issue an 
emergency coastal permit, the code requires that the applicant apply for a standard coastal 
permit and obtain approvals from the Planning Commission. 
 
Project Description 
The geotechnical investigation indicates that the slide resulted from the mixed soil and fractured 
rock matrix which overlays the weathered bedrock that daylights at the pronounced crown in the 
slope above the creek.  The strength of the bedrock, as compared to the matrix above, is 
evidenced by the dramatic change in slope that occurs at the vertical face of the bluff at an 
approximate elevation of 30’ above sea level.  The geotechnical report indicates that the material 
above this elevation remains vulnerable to future landslides and accelerated erosion due to the 
loss of vegetation that occurred during the slide.  The area in danger is almost the entire width of 
the lot (44’). 
 
The slope stabilization system is a rigid concrete bulkhead secured to the slope with deep-seated 
anchors.  The shotcrete bulkhead is 44’ in width, with a slope height of approximately 14’.  The 
system will be a permanent repair to the affected area, will restrain the existing deck piers and 
house from lateral movement toward the creek, and has been implemented with minimum 
disturbance to the existing slope and slide scarp.  The plans were reviewed by the geotechnical 
engineer of record and are in accordance with his recommendations. 
 
Drainage plans and erosion control measure have been conditioned and implemented, including 
a condition that all drainage from the house be directed away from the slope and toward Wharf 
Road.  In addition, there is to be no work in Soquel Creek, nor any debris allowed in the creek. 
 
Environmental Review 
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to land.  Specifically, 
15304(c) exempts “Filling of earth into previously excavated land with material compatible with 
the natural features of the site.” No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project. 



 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #10-084 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1. The project approval consists of an emergency coastal permit for a slope stabilization 

system at 1850 Wharf Road.  A landslide has compromised the hill below the single-family 
house and has significantly reduced the lateral support for the existing piers that support the 
three levels of decks on the creek side of the house based on a technical report prepared by 
UPP Getechnology, Inc. dated July 15, 2010.  The stabilization system will consist of a rigid 
concrete bulkhead secured to the slope with deep seated anchors (construction plans dated 
9/21/10). 
 

2. The applicant shall submit a completed coastal permit application, plans, and required 
technical reports within seven (7) days of the issuance of the emergency coastal permit.  
Plans shall include a drainage and erosion control plan.  The drainage plan shall 
demonstrate drainage being directed away from the slope and toward Wharf Road. 

 
3. All work shall be completed per submitted plan and the erosion control plan shall be strictly 

followed and amended to include the covering of all exposed soil with jute netting.  Erosion 
control and sediment management devices shall be installed and inspected by City Public 
Works prior to initiating work. 

 
4. There shall be no work in Soquel Creek, nor any debris allowed in the creek.  If any work is 

necessary within the creek, contact California Department of Fish and Game for approvals. 
 

5. There shall be no staging of construction materials in the road right-of-way. 
 
6. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30AM – 9:00PM, and Saturday 9:00AM – 

4:00PM, per city ordinance. 
 

7. Any significant modifications to the size approved design must be approved by the Planning 
Commission.  

 
8. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-

compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  

The project conforms to the requirements of the Local Coastal Program and conditions 
of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, 
General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15304 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 



 

 
 Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to land.  No adverse 

environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project.   
 
 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
     Senior Planner 
 
 
Attachment A –  Emergency Coastal Permit dated October 14, 2010 
Attachment B – Letter from the applicant, dated October 6, 2010 
Attachment C – Project Plans                   
Attachment D – Coastal Findings 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Coastal Permits\Wharf Rd 1850 Slope Stabilization 1-20-11 PC.docx 































Item #: 5.B 
 

P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Condo Conversion\El Salto 723 1-20-11 PC.doc 1 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 11, 2011 (AGENDA:  JANUARY 20, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 723 EL SALTO DRIVE  #10-082  APN: 036-143-35 

Minor land division to convert four apartment units to condominiums in the VS/R-
1 (Visitor Serving/Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  Doug Dodds 
 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is proposing to convert an existing four-unit apartment complex into four 
condominium units.  The apartment building is located at 723 El Salto Drive in the VS/R-1 
(Visitor Serving/Single-Family Residence) zoning district.  The use is consistent with the 
General Plan, Local Coastal Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and Subdivision Ordinance. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The existing parcel currently contains a 4-unit apartment building, a single-family house, and a 
4-car carport structure.  On February 4, 2010, the Planning Commission approved an 
application (#08-041) to subdivide a 5,850 square foot portion of the lot, which will contain the 
single-family house, with the remaining 29,959 square foot lot containing the four-unit 
apartment building.  As part of that approval, conditions were included that required that the 
existing carport structure be demolished and a new 4-car carport and parking lot be constructed 
on the lot containing the 4-unit apartment building, in addition to new landscaping and 
pathways. 
 
At this point in time, the applicant has not moved forward with the Final Map for the subdivision.  
But it should be noted that the proposed condo conversion application is dependent upon the 
completion of the previous application (#08-041) and conditions, including construction of a new 
4-car carport, parking area, and landscaping including pedestrian walkways connecting the 
street and apartment building.  A condition to this affect is included in the conditions of approval 
for the subject application. 
 
 
 
 



P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Condo Conversion\El Salto 723 1-20-11 PC.doc 2  

DISCUSSION 
 
The existing lot lies just to the west of the El Salto Resort, and extends from El Salto Drive to 
the north to the ocean bluff to the south.  The site is relatively flat with the subject two-story 
four-unit apartment building on the southern portion of the lot, adjacent to the ocean bluff.  The 
four units will continue to gain access from El Salto Drive, with a new driveway, new parking 
area and new landscaping conditioned as part of Application #08-041.  The parking area will 
consist of a new 4-car carport, 4 uncovered spaces parked tandemly to those carport spaces, 
two guest spaces, as well as a new 4’ concrete pedestrian walkway that connects the street to 
the parking area and apartment building. 
 
The two-story apartment building contains four individual units, each unit being approximately 
988 square feet in size with two bedrooms.  As part of the approvals of Application #08-041, 
each unit will have two assigned parking spaces, one a carport space, the other a tandem 
uncovered space.  In addition to the eight parking spaces for the unit owners, there are two 
spaces available for guest parking.  This meets the zoning code requirement of 2.5 parking 
spaces per unit.     
 
The complex will be set up the same way as most condominium projects, where the individual 
owners will own the air space of each unit, and the buildings and property are commonly owned 
by the condominium association.  As is standard for townhome and condominium projects, a 
condition of approval has been added that final covenants, conditions and restriction (CC&Rs) 
documents be prepared by the applicant and reviewed by the Community Development 
Director, Public Works Director, and City Attorney for approval.  A draft set of the Declaration of 
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions is attached (Attachment C). 
 
Condo Conversion 
 

The City Subdivision Ordinance has a Condominium and Community Apartment Conversions 
Section that is fairly restrictive and limits the majority of multiple unit apartment buildings from 
converting to condominiums.  However, the ordinance section only applies to “residential 
condominium projects” which is defined as “the conversion of an existing structure to a 
condominium containing five or more condominiums for residential purposes.”  Therefore, with 
the subject application converting only four units, the condo conversion ordinance does not 
apply and the conversions of the apartment units to individually owned condominium units are 
permitted with a minor land division.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #10-082 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1. The project approval consists of a tentative parcel map converting an existing four-unit 

apartment complex into four condominium units at 723 El Salto Drive. 
 
2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3. The subdivider shall comply with all of the provisions of the approved Tentative Map and 

all pertinent provisions of the Municipal Code. 



P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Condo Conversion\El Salto 723 1-20-11 PC.doc 3  

 
4. The proposed condo conversion Final Map shall not be approved for recordation until 

the Final Map and associated conditions of approval for Application (#08-041) are 
completed, approved, and recorded. 

 
5. A Homeowner’s Association CC&R document shall be prepared by the developer and 

subject to the approval of the Community Development Director, Public Works Director, 
and City Attorney.  The CC&Rs shall be prepared and approved prior to recordation of 
the Parcel Map and all costs associated with the creation of the documents will be the 
responsibility of the applicant. 

 
6. The owner/applicant shall comply with the Inclusionary Housing Ordinance. 
 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project 
and determined that the project is consistent with the development standards of the 
VS/R-1 (Visitor Serving/Single-Family Residence) Zoning District.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and 
General Plan. 

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 

Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project 
and determined that the proposed project will maintain the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project 
maintains the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. The application is consistent with the Subdivision Map Act and local Subdivision 

Ordinance. 
 

The subdivision was designed in accordance with the Subdivision Map Act and local 
ordinances enacted pursuant thereto.  Per the Subdivision Map Act, the proposed map 
is consistent with the General Plan, is physically suited for the proposed type and 
density of development, will not cause substantial environmental damage, or 
substantially and avoidably injure fish, wildlife or their habitats, will not cause serious 
public health problems, and will not conflict with public easements for access through, or 
use of, property within the proposed subdivision. 

 
D. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15315 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
Section 15315 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor land divisions in urbanized areas 
zoned for residential, commercial, or industrial use into four or fewer parcels when the 
division is in conformance with the General Plan and Zoning.  

 
 



P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Condo Conversion\El Salto 723 1-20-11 PC.doc 4  

Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane        
               Senior Planner 
 
 
Attachment A – Tentative Parcel Map 
Attachment B – Apartment Building Plans 
Attachment C – Draft CC&Rs 



































































Item #:  6.A. 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 12, 2010 (AGENDA:  JANUARY 20, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 100-200 KENNEDY DRIVE  #10-104  APN: 036-031-01 

Master Use Permit for an existing industrial property in the IP (Industrial Park) 
Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  John McCoy 
 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Master Conditional Use Permit for the light industrial 
buildings located at 100-200 Kennedy Drive in the IP (Industrial Park) zoning district.  Approval 
of the proposed Master Use Permit would be consistent with the General Plan and Zoning 
Ordinance. 
  
DISCUSSION 
 
The 45,725 square foot site at the end of Kennedy Drive is currently occupied by an older 4,803 
square foot building (former Moto Italiano) as well as a newly constructed 7,072 square foot light 
industrial building with an additional 2,448 square feet of interior mezzanine space.  The new 
building is split into five individual commercial units which range from 1,318 to 1,455 square 
feet.  Being recently developed, the site conforms to current city parking and landscaping 
requirements.  At present, the new building is vacant with the exception of Pelican Ranch 
Winery which recently moved into the building.  The wine production use falls under the 
category of “Manufacture of food products” and is therefore a principally permitted use in the IP 
zoning.  Other principally permitted uses in the IP zoning include: 

A. Administrative, executive and financial offices; 

 B. Experimental, film or testing laboratories; 

C. Manufacture, assembly or packaging of products from previously prepared materials 
such as cloth, plastic, paper, leather, precious or semi-precious metals or stones, but not 
including such operations as saw and planing mills, any manufacturing uses involving 
primary production of wood, metal or chemical products from raw materials; 

D. Manufacture of food products, pharmaceuticals and the like, but not including the 
production of fish or meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar or the like, or the rendering or 
refining of fats and oils; 



 

E. Manufacture of electric and electronic instruments and devices such as television sets, 
radios, and television, radio and phonographic equipment; 

F. Any other research or light manufacturing use which the planning commission finds not to 
be inconsistent with the purpose of this chapter and which will not impair the present or 
potential use of adjacent properties; 

G. Agriculture, horticulture, gardening but not including the raising of rabbits, dogs, fowl or 
other animals for commercial purposes, or the sale of any products on the premises.  

The proposed Master Conditional Use Permit for the industrial complex would allow not only the 
principally permitted uses listed in the IP zoning, but also a list of specific uses that would 
normally require an individual use permit.  The applicant is attempting to build a community of 
food production related companies, similar to the Swift Street Courtyard in Santa Cruz (Kelly’s 
French Bakery, Bonny Doon Winery, etc.) The industrial complex would host a mix of specialty 
foods, including the potential for tasting rooms and food education classes.  With that in mind, 
he is requesting the following uses be permitted under the Master Conditional Use Permit: 
 

1. Retail commercial and service use, including sale and consumption of food and 
beverage products manufactured on site; and 

2. Public and quasi-public uses of an educational or recreational measure, including 
classes or educational instruction pertaining to products or services on site. 

 
Per Zoning Code Section 17.60.160, after a Master Use Permit has been issued, tenant use 
permits that occupy less than 12,000 square feet shall be approved by the Community 
Development Director upon inspection of the property, and verification that it and its landscaping 
are in good repair, and that all other conditions of the master use permit are being met.  If one of 
the above-mentioned uses was proposed and of concern to the Director, the Director can 
require that a Conditional Use Permit be approved by the Planning Commission.  In addition, a 
tenant use permit may be revoked if the tenant is the cause of violation of a condition of the 
Master Use Permit. 
 
Pelican Ranch Winery 
A good example of the two uses proposed as part of the Master Use Permit is the recently 
relocated Pelican Ranch Winery.  As previously mentioned, the winery has moved into one of 
the units as a principally permitted food product manufacturer.  Approval of the Master Use 
Permit would allow them to add a wine education and tasting room to the existing wine 
production use.  The principal goal of the family operation is to produce fine wines and also 
engage information dissemination on topics such as sensory evaluation, oenology,and 
viticulture.  If permitted, their tasting room would be approximately 466 square feet, have 1-2 
part time employees, with tastings Friday through Sunday, noon to 5PM. 
 
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs) 
CC&Rs have been recorded as part of the condo conversion that was approved in February 
2010.  The CC&Rs restrict the permitted uses on the property, as well as provide conditions that 
the unit owners or lessees must follow in order to reduce impacts not only to each other, but to 
residences bordering the property.  The conditions listed in the CC&Rs have been included as 
conditions of the Master Use Permit for consistency. 
 
Parking 
The site provides a total of 43 off-street parking spaces, 23 of which are located toward the front 
of the building off of Kennedy Drive.  The remaining 20 parking spaces are located in the rear of 
the main building, and are intended for employee usage.   



 

 
The City of Capitola Parking Ordinance does not provide specific requirements for industrial 
type uses.  Therefore, determination of the appropriate parking is determined by the following 
code section: 
 

17.51.210 Uses not specifically mentioned.  

 In the case of any building, structure or premises the use of which is not specifically 
mentioned in this chapter, the provisions for a use which is so mentioned and to which such 
use is similar, as determined by the planning commission, shall apply. 

When the site was developed, staff looked at similar uses mentioned in the parking ordinance, 
and determined that a combination of office, wholesale/warehouse, and retail was likely the 
most similar uses listed.  The older 4,803 square foot building is currently being used for 
warehouse storage, with a parking requirement of 1 space/5,000 square feet.  The new building 
is vacant with the exception of the previously mentioned Pelican Ranch Winery. Taking a 
somewhat conservative approach, staff looked at the following parking scenario: 
 
 
Use Square Footage Parking Requirement Number of Spaces 
Office 6,096 1 space/ 240 square feet 25 spaces 
Retail 2,400 1 space/ 240 square feet 10 spaces 
Warehouse 5,827 1 space/ 5000 square feet 1 space 
  TOTAL REQUIRED 36 spaces 

 
The above scenario assumes that half of the existing building (2,400 sq. ft.) would be retail, 
1,200 would be office, and the remaining 1,200 would be warehouse.  It also assumes that the 
entire mezzanine in the new building would be used as office (2,448 sq. ft.) in addition to the 
proposed office space (2,448 sq. ft.), with the remaining space being warehouse/manufacturing 
(4,624 sq. ft.).  Based on this scenario, a total of 36 parking spaces would be required.  The 
proposed project provides a total of 43 spaces.   
 
In addition to looking at this scenario, staff looked at R&D and industrial parking requirements 
from other local jurisdictions: 
 
City of Santa Cruz R&D 1 space/ 325 square feet 
City of San Jose R&D 1 space/ 350 square feet 
 Industrial 1 space/ 350 square feet 
City of Monterey R&D 1 space/ 500 square feet 
 Industrial 1 space/ 500 square feet 
Proposed Project R&D / Industrial 1 space/ 341 square feet 
   
Based on the conservative scenario for the potential uses on the site, as well as comparing the 
average parking provided per square foot to other city’s parking requirements, staff feels that 
the proposed 43 parking spaces will be sufficient for the uses permitted under the Master Use 
Permit. 
 
Environmental Review 
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, leasing, or minor alteration of 
existing facilities that involve negligible or no expansion of use.  No adverse environmental 
impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 



 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #10-104 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval consists of a Master Conditional Use Permit for the light industrial 

buildings located at 100-200 Kennedy Drive 
 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 

approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Truck loading and unloading hours shall be limited to 7:30AM – 8PM to minimize noise 

impacts to neighboring residents. 
 
4.  The approved sign program shall permit tenants signage along the north elevation of the 

new building where the main entrances to the office areas will be located.  Each of the five 
tenant spaces will be permitted one wall sign, with a maximum height of 20” and a maximum 
length of 8’.  Signs are to be of wood or metal construction with vinyl graphics.  These sign 
requirements will also apply to the existing building when new tenants are incorporated and 
the existing nonconforming signs are removed. 

 
5.  All businesses shall obtain a sign permit from the Community Development Department. 

 
6.  No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public.  Any necessary roof screening is to 

match the color of the building as closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal. 

 
7.  Rosedale Avenue shall be open to vehicular access for the proposed project and Cabrillo 

Estates Mobile Home Park at all times. 
 
8.  The property owner shall maintain a gate, for which they control access, at the location of 

the previous gate that was removed.  The gate shall cross the entire roadway. 
 

9.  All lighting shall be focused downward and away from adjacent properties.  The Planning 
Commission shall review lighting upon receipt of a legitimate complaint. 

 
10. All uses shall be conducted wholly within an enclosed building, except for off-street parking 

and loading facilities and no merchandise shall be displayed outside the building without an 
individual Conditional Use Permit being issued for the business. 

 
11. All businesses within the center shall obtain a business license prior to operating. 
 
12. Prior to leasing of any space upon the subject property, the holder of the master use permit 

shall inform all prospective tenants, or tenants renewing or extending leases, of the 
conditions of the master use permit and of the requirements of 17.60.160 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code. 

 
13. Prior to leasing of any space upon the subject property, the holder of the master use permit 

shall submit in writing a description of the prospective tenant, including the name of the 
business, type business, number of employees and the square footage of the space to be 



 

leased to the Community Development Department.  Upon inspection of the property and 
verification that the landscaping is in good repair and that all the conditions of the master 
use permit are being met, the tenant use permit shall be issued. 

 
14. A tenant us permit shall be revoked in the manner provided in Section 17.60.120 if the 

tenant is the cause of violation of a condition of the Master Use Permit. 
 
15. Businesses occupying over 12,000 square feet of building shall obtain a standard 

conditional use permit with approval from the Planning Commission. 
 
16. Manufacturing and industrial processes shall use only gas or electricity as a fuel; provided, 

however, that equipment using other fuel may be installed for standby purposes only. 
 

17. No owner or invitee shall use or permit any sound system including, but not by way of 
limitation, loudspeakers, public address, systems, sound amplifiers, radio or broadcast 
within the project in such a manner that any sounds reproduced, transmitted or produced 
shall be directed beyond the interior of the building towards the residential areas. 

 
18. No vehicle used regularly on site and under control of a business owner or invitee shall be 

equipped with back up noise devices audible more than twenty feet from vehicle and owner 
and invitee shall encourage delivery vehicles outside of their control to approach the facility 
in such a way to minimize noise. 

 
19. Hours of normal operation on site shall be 7:30AM until 8PM unless a Conditional Use 

Permit has been obtained, and any activity outside of these hours shall be confined to quiet 
indoors activity no audible outside of the building.  Vehicles coming and going at any non-
business hours shall be quiet and conform to normal sound levels. 

 
20. Equipment or machinery regularly used in the production of goods or services on site that 

produces audible at the property boundaries, including but not limited to sawing, cutting, 
grinding, shall require a Conditional Use Permit.  Air compressors shall be of a quiet type 
and enclosed inside the building in sound containing enclosures. 

 
21. Approved uses to be permitted by the Master Use Permit are as follows: 

• Administrative, executive and financial offices; 

• Experimental, film or testing laboratories; 

• Manufacture, assembly or packaging of products from previously prepared materials 
such as cloth, plastic, paper, leather, precious or semi-precious metals or stones, but not 
including such operations as saw and planing mills, any manufacturing uses involving 
primary production of wood, metal or chemical products from raw materials; 

• Manufacture of food products, pharmaceuticals and the like, but not including the 
production of fish or meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar or the like, or the rendering or 
refining of fats and oils; 

• Manufacture of electric and electronic instruments and devices such as television sets, 
radios, and television, radio and phonographic equipment; 

• Any other research or light manufacturing use which the planning commission finds not 
to be inconsistent with the purpose of this chapter and which will not impair the present 
or potential use of adjacent properties; 

• Agriculture, horticulture, gardening but not including the raising of rabbits, dogs, fowl or 
other animals for commercial purposes, or the sale of any products on the premises. 



 

• Retail commercial and service use, including sale and consumption of food and 
beverage products manufactured on site; and 

• Public and quasi-public uses of an educational or recreational measure, including 
classes or educational instruction pertaining to products or services on site 

FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all 
reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the IP 
(Industrial Park) Zoning District. Conditions of approval have been included to carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  

The project conforms to the development standards of the IP (Industrial Park) Zoning 
District and will not negatively impact the surrounding neighborhood. Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and 
integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, leasing, or minor 
alteration of existing facilities that involve negligible or no expansion of use.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 
 
 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
     Senior Planner 
 
 
Attachment A –  Site Plan 
Attachment B – Letter from the applicant, dated December 14, 2010 
Attachment C – Master Use Permit 
Attachment D – Recorded CC&Rs for the property             
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Current Planning\REPORTS\Industrial\Kennedy Dr 100-200 MUP 1-20-11 PC.docx 




































































































































	AGENDA
	DRAFT MINUTESSPECIAL MEETINGCAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETINGTHURSDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 20107:00 P.M. – COUNCIL CHAMBERS
	1850 WHARF ROAD #10-084 APN: 035-031-39

	723 EL SALTO DRIVE #10-082 APN: 036-143-35
	100-200 KENNEDY DRIVE #10-104 APN: 036-031-01

